COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE)



and

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 2052-02



JULY 1, 2022 TO JUNE 30, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1	PREAMBLE	. 1
1.01	IT IS THE PURPOSE OF BOTH PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT:	. 1
ARTICLE 2	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	. 1
2.01 2.02 2.03 2.04	MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTION SUPERVISORY STAFF MANAGEMENT RIGHTS NO DISCRIMINATION	. 1 . 1
ARTICLE 3	RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATION	. 2
3.01 3.02 3.03 3.04 3.05	RECOGNITION NO OTHER AGREEMENTS REPRESENTATIVE OF CANADIAN UNION REPRESENTATION NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT	. 2 . 2 . 2 . 2
ARTICLE 4	UNION MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENT	
4.01	UNION MEMBERSHIP	
ARTICLE 5	CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES	
5.01 5.02	CHECK-OFF PAYMENTS Dues Receipts	
ARTICLE 6	NEW EMPLOYEES	. 3
6.01	COPY OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT	. 3
ARTICLE 7	CORRESPONDENCE	. 3
7.01	PASSING OF CORRESPONDENCE	. 3
ARTICLE 8	LABOUR MANAGEMENT LIAISON MEETINGS	. 3
8.01 8.02	JOINT LABOUR MEETINGS Change to Wages, Hours, or Benefits	
ARTICLE 9	LABOUR MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS	. 4
9.01 9.02 9.03	Union Bargaining Committee Function of the Bargaining Committee Time Off for Negotiation Meetings	. 4
ARTICLE 10	EMPLOYEE DEFINITIONS	. 4
10.01 10.02 10.03 10.04 10.05	PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE CASUAL EMPLOYEE TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE REGULAR EMPLOYEE EDUCATION ASSISTANT.	. 5 . 5 . 5
ARTICLE 11	EDUCATION ASSISTANTS	. 5
11.01 11.02	Layoffs and Rehiring Reduction of a Regular Position's Hours	

11.03 11.04 11.05	EA'S NO LONGER REQUIRED PROMOTION AND STAFF CHANGES EA'S STUDENT IS ABSENT	. 6
ARTICLE 12	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
12.01 12.02 12.03 12.04 12.05 12.06	RECOGNITION OF UNION STEWARDS AND GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE NAMES OF STEWARDS PERMISSION TO LEAVE WORK GRIEVANCES AND REPLIES IN WRITING GRIEVANCES GROUP OR POLICY GRIEVANCE.	. 6 . 7 . 7 . 7 . 7
ARTICLE 13	ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	. 8
13.01 13.02 13.03 13.04 13.05 13.06	Section 84 (3)(b) - Labour Relations Code Arbitrator's Procedure Arbitrator's Recommendations Expenses of the Arbitrator Amending of Time Limits Witnesses	. 8 . 8 . 8 . 8 . 8
ARTICLE 14	DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE	
14.01 14.02 14.03 14.04 14.05 14.05	RIGHT TO HAVE UNION REPRESENTATIVE PRESENT WARNINGS BURDEN OF PROOF DESIGNATION OF SUPERVISOR CROSSING OF PICKET LINES DURING STRIKE PERSONNEL FILE	. 9 . 9 . 9 . 9
ARTICLE 15	SENIORITY	10
15.01 15.02 15.03 15.04 15.05 15.06 15.07	PRINCIPLE SECONDARY SENIORITY PROBATION FOR NEWLY HIRED EMPLOYEES SENIORITY LIST NO LOSS OF SENIORITY LOSS OF SENIORITY TRANSFERS AND SENIORITY OUTSIDE BARGAINING UNIT	10 10 10 11 11
ARTICLE 16	PROMOTIONS AND STAFF CHANGES	
16.01 16.02 16.03 16.04 16.05 16.06	JOB POSTINGS TEMPORARY VACANCIES TRIAL PERIOD THRESHOLD ABILITY SELECTION RESIGNATION MAINTENANCE OF PAY EQUITY AGREEMENT	12 12 12 13
ARTICLE 17	LAYOFFS AND RECALLS	14
17.01 17.02 17.03 17.04 17.05	DEFINITION OF LAYOFF ROLE OF SENIORITY IN LAYOFFS BUMPING RIGHTS RECALL PROCEDURE NO NEW EMPLOYEES	14 14 14

17.06 17.07	NOTICE OF LAYOFF Severance Pay	
17.08	Тіме Limit	15
ARTICLE 18	HOURS OF WORK	15
18.01 18.02 18.03 18.04 18.05 18.06 18.07 18.08 18.09 18.10 ARTICLE 19	CLERICAL AND STUDENT ASSISTANTS' HOURS OF WORK MAINTENANCE CUSTODIAL REGULAR WORK WEEK VARIANCE FROM REGULAR HOURS PAID REST PERIODS WHERE NO WORK IS AVAILABLE ASSIGNMENT OF EXTRA WORK NON-INSTRUCTIONAL DAYS FOUR (4) HOUR DAILY MINIMUM	16 16 16 16 16 16 17 17
19.01	OVERTIME ENTITLEMENT	
19.01 19.02 19.03 19.04 19.05 19.06	OVERTIME ENTITLEMENT OVERTIME FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES TIME OFF IN LIEU OF OVERTIME COMPENSATION OF WORK ON PAID HOLIDAYS CALL OUT PAY GUARANTEE MEAL BREAK	17 17 18 18
ARTICLE 20	STATUTORY HOLIDAYS	18
20.01 20.02 20.03 20.04	STATUTORY HOLIDAYS STATS ON VACATION TIME OR DAY OFF WHEN A HOLIDAY FALLS ON A NON-WORKING DAY DISCRETIONARY DAYS	19 19
ARTICLE 21	VACATIONS	20
21.01 21.02 21.03 21.04 21.05	LENGTH OF VACATIONS CASUAL AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES LEAVING BOARD SERVICE VACATION PERIOD EXTENDED VACATION	20 20 20
ARTICLE 22	SICK LEAVE	21
22.01 22.02 22.03 22.04 22.05 22.06	SICK LEAVE DEFINED ACCUMULATION OF SICK LEAVE SICK LEAVE DURING LEAVE OF ABSENCE OR LAYOFF EXTENSION OF SICK LEAVE PROOF OF ILLNESS SICK LEAVE RECORDS	21 22 22 22
ARTICLE 23	LEAVE OF ABSENCE	22
23.01 23.02 23.03 23.04 23.05	UNION BUSINESS LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR UNION FUNCTIONS LEAVE FOR FULL-TIME UNION OFFICIALS BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ILLNESS IN THE FAMILY	22 23 23

23.06	Cultural Leave Days	24
23.07	MATERNITY LEAVE/ADOPTION LEAVE	24
23.08	PAID JURY OR COURT WITNESS DUTY LEAVE	
23.09	GENERAL LEAVE	
23.10	LEAVE FOR PUBLIC DUTIES	
23.11	MEDICAL CARE LEAVE	
23.12	SPECIAL LEAVE	
23.13	VOLUNTEER FIRE FIGHTERS	-
23.14	AMBULANCE ATTENDANTS	
23.15	COMPASSIONATE CARE LEAVE	26
ARTICLE 24	PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES	26
24.01	Pay Days	26
24.02	ASSIGNMENTS AND SUBSTITUTES	26
24.03	STATEMENT	27
24.04	TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT TO EXCLUDED POSITION	27
24.05	TOOL ALLOWANCE	27
24.06	TRAVEL ALLOWANCE	27
24.07	FIRST AID	
24.08	VEHICLE ALLOWANCE	28
ARTICLE 25	JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION	28
25.01	CLASSIFICATION CHANGES AND NEW POSITIONS	28
ARTICLE 26	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	28
26.01	HEALTH PLANS	28
26.02	PENSION	28
26.03	GROUP LIFE INSURANCE	28
26.04	LONG TERM DISABILITY PLAN	28
26.05	CONTINUATION OF BENEFITS	29
26.06	WORKSAFE BC'S COMPENSATION BENEFIT CONTINUATION	29
26.07	WORKSAFE BC'S COMPENSATION SALARY CONTINUATION	29
ARTICLE 27	HEALTH AND SAFETY	29
27.01	INJURY PAY PROVISIONS	29
27.02	TRANSPORTATION OF ACCIDENT VICTIMS	-
27.03	Asbestoses Testing	30
27.04	SAFETY BOOTS AND CLOTHING	30
27.05	SAFETY IN THE WORKPLACE	30
27.06	UNSAFE WORKING CONDITIONS	30
ARTICLE 28	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	30
28.01	DEFINITION	30
28.02	INTRODUCTION OF TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
28.03	Severance Pay	31
ARTICLE 29	GENERAL CONDITIONS	31
29.01	EDUCATIONAL COURSES	31
29.02		
	CONTRACTING OUT	32
29.03	CONTRACTING OUT AMALGAMATION OR MERGER	

29.05	Personal Harassment	
29.06	BULLETIN BOARDS	
29.07	WORKPLACE VIOLENCE	
29.08	SITUATIONS OF IMMEDIATE DANGER	
ARTICLE 30	GENERAL	33
30.01 30.02	PLURAL AND GENDER NEUTRAL TERMS MAY APPLY	
30.03	REPLACEMENT DURING ABSENCES.	
30.04	PROVINCIAL SKILLS ENHANCEMENT FUND	33
30.05	USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES	
30.06	PRE-RETIREMENT SEMINAR	
30.07	EXAMINATION OF STUDENTS	
30.08		
ARTICLE 31	TERM OF AGREEMENT	-
31.01	DURATION	34
Appendix "A" -	- Wage Rates	36
APPENDIX "B"		37
	AMSEY LETTER	
APPENDIX "C"		39
	CIAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 2022	
	LOYEE SUPPORT GRANT (ESG) AFTER JUNE 30, 2022	
APPENDIX "D"		51
	IDERSTANDING #1	
	IETIA SECRETARY HOURS	
LETTER OF UN	IDERSTANDING #2	53
RE: LEAV	'E OF ABSENCE	53
LETTER OF UN	IDERSTANDING #3	54
RE: SER	/ICE IMPROVEMENT ALLOCATION FUND	54
LETTER OF UN	IDERSTANDING #4	55
RE: TAHL	TAN SCHOOL SECRETARY HOURS	55
LETTER OF UN	IDERSTANDING #5	56
RE: ATLI	N SCHOOL SECRETARY HOURS	56
LETTER OF UN	IDERSTANDING #6	57
RE: DENE	ETIA SCHOOL CUSTODIAN HOURS	57
LETTER OF UN	IDERSTANDING #7	58
RE: DIST	RICT ACCOUNTING CLERK/EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT	58

AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE)

(hereinafter called the "Board")

and

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 2052-02

(hereinafter called the "Union)

Land Acknowledgement

The Parties to the agreement recognize that the Employer objectives include service to Indigenous, Metis and other ethnic communities and the promotion, preservation, protection and interpretation of their histories, languages, cultures and artistic heritages using ways of knowing, being and understanding.

ARTICLE 1 PREAMBLE

1.01

It is the Purpose of Both Parties to this Agreement:

- (a) To seek to maintain and improve harmonious relations between the Board and the Union.
- (b) To recognize the mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations with regard to wages, hours of work and working conditions.
- (c) To facilitate the peaceful adjustment of all disputes and grievances.
- (d) To promote the morale, well-being and security of all employees in the Bargaining Unit.
- (e) To encourage efficiency in operations.
- (f) To recognize the principle of equal pay for equal work.

ARTICLE 2 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

2.01 Management and Direction

The management, operation, direction and promotion of the work force is vested exclusively in the Board, subject to the terms of this Agreement.

2.02 Supervisory Staff

The selection and promotion of Bargaining Unit personnel to supervisory positions shall be entirely a matter for the Board's decision.

2.03 Management Rights

The Union recognizes that it is the right of the Employer to exercise the regular and customary function of the Employer and to direct the working forces, subject to the terms of this Agreement. The question of whether any of these rights are limited by this Agreement will be decided through the grievance and arbitration procedure.

2.04 No Discrimination

The Employer and the Union agree that all Employees will be protected against discrimination respecting their human rights and employment in all matters including age, race, colour, religion, creed, sex, sexual orientation, pregnancy, physical disability, mental disability, illness, or disease, ethnic, or national or Indigenous origin, family status, marital status, source of income, political belief, affiliation or activity, membership in a professional association, business, or trade association, Employers' organization or Employee's organization, physical appearance, residence, or the association with others similarly protected or any other prohibition of the Human Rights Code.

ARTICLE 3 RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATION

3.01 Recognition

The Board recognizes the Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 2025-02 as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining agent for all of its employees as certified by the British Columbia Labour Relations Council.

3.02 No Other Agreements

No employee or group of employees, within the Bargaining Unit, shall be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Board or its representatives which may conflict with the terms of this Collective Agreement.

3.03 Representative of Canadian Union

The Union shall have the right to have assistance of Representatives of the Canadian Union of Public Employees when dealing or negotiating with the Board.

3.04 Representation

The Union shall supply the Board with the names of its Officers. Likewise, the Board shall supply the Union with a list of its supervisory personnel.

3.05 No Strike or Lockout

The Union agrees that during the term of this Agreement, as a result of a dispute, there shall not be any strike, stoppage of work or slowdown in the Board's operation. The Board agrees that during the term of this Agreement, there shall be no lockout of its employees.

ARTICLE 4 UNION MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENT

4.01 Union Membership

All employees who, at the date of signing of this Agreement are members of the Union, or any employee who hereafter during the life of this Agreement becomes a member, shall as a condition of continued employment within the Bargaining Unit maintain membership in good standing with the Union.

New employees commencing employment with the Board, in positions covered

by this Collective Agreement, shall become members of the Union effective from their date of hire.

ARTICLE 5 CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES

5.01 Check-off Payments

As a condition of employment, every employee shall sign a check-off form authorizing the Board to deduct from their earning and pay to the Union any Union dues. Dues deductions shall commence upon the date of hire of a new employee. The Board shall remit the dues deducted pursuant to such assignment to the Treasurer of the Union not later than fifteen (15) days following the date upon which deductions were made, with a written statement of names of the employees for whom the deductions were made and the amount of each deduction.

5.02 Dues Receipts

At the same time that Income Tax (T-4) slips are made available, the Board shall report the amount of Union dues paid by each Union member in the previous year.

ARTICLE 6 NEW EMPLOYEES

6.01 Copy of the Collective Agreement

The Board agrees to advise new employees that a Union Agreement is in effect and shall provide them with a link to the website where they can find an online copy of the Collective Agreement.

ARTICLE 7 CORRESPONDENCE

7.01 Passing of Correspondence

All correspondence between the Parties arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto, shall pass to and from the appropriate Management Designate of the Board and the President of the Union with copies, for information, as may be requested by the Union. If correspondence is not responded to in a timely manner it shall be forwarded to the Director of Human Resources to facilitate a response.

ARTICLE 8 LABOUR MANAGEMENT LIAISON MEETINGS

8.01 Joint Labour Meetings

Either Party may request a joint meeting to discuss matters of mutual concern regarding the application, interpretation or implementation of the Collective Agreement. The Committee shall not supersede the activities of other committees and does not have the power to bind either the Union or its members or the Board to any decision.

8.02 Change to Wages, Hours, or Benefits

A meeting shall take place between the Parties before any reduction in hours or wages, or alteration of benefits shall be implemented.

ARTICLE 9 LABOUR MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS

9.01 Union Bargaining Committee

A Union Bargaining Committee shall be elected or appointed of not more than three (3) members of the Union. The Union shall advise the Board of the members on the Committee at least thirty (30) days prior to the commencement of negotiations.

9.02 Function of the Bargaining Committee

The Union Bargaining Committee shall be responsible for negotiating with the Board to establish wages, hours of work and other working conditions.

9.03 Time Off for Negotiation Meetings

- (a) Upon requesting leave, up to three (3) representatives of the Union Bargaining Committee, who are in the employ of the Board, shall be granted leave to attend negotiation meetings with the Board.
- (b) The Board shall make available to the Bargaining Unit a maximum of eighty (80) hours during each Collective Agreement of release time for the preparation and negotiation of the subsequent Collective Agreement. Representatives of the Union Bargaining Committee shall receive their normal salary and benefits for release days taken.
- (c) Leave requests shall be submitted to the employee's immediate Supervisor at least three (3) working days prior to negotiation meetings.
- (d) The Employer may refuse a leave of absence request by any member of the Union Bargaining Committee where:
 - (i) more than one member comes from the Maintenance Department;
 - (ii) duties of the members overlap.

ARTICLE 10 EMPLOYEE DEFINITIONS

10.01 Probationary Employee

A probationary employee shall be defined as a newly hired person who is serving a probationary period up to and including sixty (60) working days or three (3) months, whichever is less, for an appointment as a regular employee in a position with the Board.

If the Board proposes an extension to the probationary period, such a proposal shall be sent, in writing, to the Union, with a copy to the employee and shall detail:

- (a) the length of the proposed extension;
- (b) the reasons for such extension;

(c) the plan of action to help the employee successfully complete the probationary period;

The probationary period shall only be extended once.

During the probationary period, an employee may be discharged if they are unsuitable for status as a regular employee.

10.02 Casual Employee

A casual employee shall be defined as a person who works from time to time, on an on-call basis, but does not work on regularly scheduled shifts.

Casual employees shall only be entitled to the provisions of this Agreement relating to wage rates, secondary seniority as per Article 15.02, hours of work, rest periods and those benefits to which they are entitled by virtue of Federal or Provincial Government statutes.

10.03 Temporary Employee

A temporary employee shall be hired as a replacement necessitated by illness, injury, leave of absence, vacation, or temporary filling of a vacancy, with an anticipated termination date. Temporary employees shall be placed on the seniority list on completion of sixty (60) consecutive days worked. Temporary employees shall be eligible for all benefits as provided by the Collective Agreement as allowed for by the benefit carriers.

10.04 Regular Employee

A regular employee shall be defined as a person who has satisfactorily completed the probationary period with the Board and who is employed on a regular full-time or part-time basis.

10.05 Education Assistant

An Education Assistant (EA) shall be defined as a person appointed to help assist with children who have special education needs, as defined by current Ministry funding guidelines. EA's shall be entitled to all provisions of this agreement, except Article 16 - Promotions and Staff Changes and Article 17 - Layoffs and Recalls.

Layoffs and Rehiring, Promotions and Staff Changes shall be applied according to Article 11 - Education Assistants.

ARTICLE 11 EDUCATION ASSISTANTS

The articles of this Collective Agreement that apply to Education Assistants (EA) are those articles defined in Article 10.05, this section is applicable to EA's only.

11.01 Layoffs and Rehiring

(a) Students that are classified as special needs students, as determined by current Ministry funding guidelines, shall have the right to Education Assistance.

- (b) In the event that a EA position is eliminated, the employee shall be placed on a Layoff List, within that community, and offered a temporary EA position if available or a regular EA vacancy, as they arise, in accordance with the employee's qualifications, appropriateness, and seniority.
- (c) Employees shall remain on the EA Layoff List until appointed to another regular position, or until they refuse one (1) EA position for which they are qualified, or until twelve (12) months pass.

11.02 Reduction of a Regular Position's Hours

In the event that a EA's assigned hours in a regular position are reduced by five (5) hours or more per week, the employee shall have the option of:

- (a) accepting the reduction in the remaining position;
- (b) vacating the position and going on the Layoff List under the provision of 11.01 (c) above.

11.03 EA's No Longer Required

Should the student(s) to whom the EA is assigned move or no longer require special services, as determined by the Board, the EA shall be placed on the Layoff List as described in 11.01 (b).

11.04 Promotion and Staff Changes

Vacant Education Assistant positions shall be posted on all bulletin boards within the community schools for a minimum of five (5) working days. Such notice shall contain the following information for each of the positions:

- required knowledge and education, special abilities and skills.

Appointments shall be made, taking into consideration required qualifications, seniority and relevant experience of the applicant.

Copies of all school postings shall be forwarded to the President of the Union.

11.05 EA's Student is Absent

When the student to whom the employee is assigned is absent the employee shall be offered such temporary EA work or other duties assigned in accordance with their qualifications, appropriateness and seniority.

ARTICLE 12 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

12.01 Recognition of Union Stewards and Grievance Committee

In order to provide an orderly and speedy procedure for the settling of grievances, a Steward may assist an employee whom the Steward represents in preparing and presenting a grievance, in accordance with the grievance procedure. The usual time for a Steward to assist an employee with a grievance shall be outside of regular working hours.

The Employer will inform employees of their right to Union representation.

12.02 Names of Stewards

The Union shall notify the Board in writing of the names of each Steward and the name of the Lead Steward.

12.03 Permission to Leave Work

Union representatives may be permitted time off without loss of pay to handle grievances, provided they have first sought and obtained permission from their immediate Supervisor to absent themselves from their regular duties for that purpose.

A maximum of two (2) members of the Bargaining Unit who are requested to attend meetings held during regular working hours, at the request of management, shall have their regular salary and benefits maintained by the Board.

12.04 Grievances and Replies in Writing

Grievances and replies to grievances shall be in writing at all stages of the grievance procedure.

12.05 Grievances

A grievance is defined as any difference that arises between the Parties out of the interpretation, application, operation or any alleged violation of this Agreement, including any difference arising from the suspension or dismissal of any employee and including any question or difference as to whether the matter is arbitrable. Such question or difference shall be finally and conclusively settled without stoppage of work in the following manner:

At each step of the grievance procedure the griever shall have the right to be present.

- <u>Step 1</u> An employee alleging a grievance shall request a meeting with the Supervisor to whom the employee is directly responsible, within seven (7) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the grievance, and at such meeting they shall attempt to resolve the grievance. The employee may be accompanied at this meeting by a representative of the Union. If no satisfactory resolution is found at this step, then the grievance shall be put in writing and the grievance shall proceed to the next step.
- <u>Step 2</u> Failing a satisfactory settlement within seven (7) working days of the meeting in Step 1, the Union shall, within a further seven (7) days, submit the grievance to the Secretary-Treasurer or designate of the Board.
- <u>Step 3</u> Failing a satisfactory settlement within seven (7) working days of receipt of the grievance in writing by the Secretary-Treasurer, such grievance shall be referred within a further seven (7) working days to a grievance committee comprised of two (2) members each from the Board and the Union. The Committee shall, if it so desires, have its

advisors in attendance. Failing a satisfactory settlement within ten (10) working days of the Committee reviewing the grievance, the matter may be referred for resolution to Arbitration.

12.06 Group or Policy Grievance

Where a grievance involves a question of general application or interpretation, or where a grievance involves a group of employees, either Party shall retain the right to present the grievance to the Secretary Treasurer or designate or President of the Union at Step 2.

ARTICLE 13 ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

13.01 Section 84 (3)(b) - Labour Relations Code

If a difference arises between the Parties relating to the dismissal or discipline of an employee, or to the interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of this agreement, including a question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, either of the Parties, without stoppage of work, may, after exhausting any grievance procedure established by this agreement, notify the other Party in writing of its desire to submit the difference to arbitration, and the Parties must agree on a single arbitrator, the cost of which will be equally shared between the Parties.

13.02 Arbitrator's Procedure

The Arbitrator may determine their own procedure but shall give full opportunity to all Parties to present evidence and make presentations to it. The Arbitrator shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and render a decision within five (5) days from the time of their appointment.

13.03 Arbitrator's Recommendations

The recommendations of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on all Parties, but in no event shall they have the power to alter, modify or amend this Agreement in any respect.

13.04 Expenses of the Arbitrator

Each Party shall pay one half $(\frac{1}{2})$ of the fees and expenses of the Arbitrator.

13.05 Amending of Time Limits

The time limits fixed in both the grievance and arbitration procedures may be extended by mutual consent of the Parties to this Agreement, in writing.

13.06 Witnesses

At any stage of the grievance or arbitration process, the Parties may have the assistance of the employee(s) concerned as witnesses, and any other witnesses, and all reasonable arrangements shall be made to permit the Arbitrator to have access to any part of the Board's premises to view the working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of the grievance.

ARTICLE 14 DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

14.01 Right to Have Union Representative Present

Whenever a Supervisor intends to interview an employee for possible disciplinary purposes, or for purposes of suspension or dismissal, and to include a written report in the employee's file, the Supervisor shall notify the employee in advance of the purpose of the interview and advise them of their right to Union representation so that the employee may contact their Union representative to be present at the interview. The Union representative shall be present at the interview in order to provide any needed support and guidance to the employee.

14.02 Warnings

Whenever the Board or its authorized agent deems it necessary to censure an employee, and includes a letter in the employee's file, in a manner indicating that dismissal or discipline may follow any further infraction or may follow if such employee fails to bring their work up to a required standard by a given date, the Board shall, within five (5) days thereafter, give written particulars of such censure to the employee involved, with a copy to the President of the Union.

14.03 Burden of Proof

In cases of discharge and/or discipline, the burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Board.

14.04 Designation of Supervisor

Every employee shall be notified, at the time of hire, of the title and incumbent's name(s) of their immediate Supervisor(s).

14.05 Crossing of Picket Lines During Strike

An employee covered by this Agreement shall have the right to refuse to cross a legal picket line arising out of labour disputes. Failure to cross such a legal picket line by a member of this Union shall not be considered a violation of this Agreement nor shall it be grounds for disciplinary action, other than loss of pay for time not worked.

14.06 Personnel File

An employee shall be granted access to their personnel file within a reasonable period upon request to the Board. The employee shall be supervised by a representative of the Board when they are reviewing said file. An employee may copy any document and shall be permitted to respond in writing to any information contained in their personnel file. Such responses shall become part of their file. An employee personnel file is the property of the Board.

ARTICLE 15 SENIORITY

15.01 Principle

Seniority is the length of service that a regular employee has with the District. The application of seniority shall be on a Bargaining-Unit-wide basis.

15.02 Secondary Seniority

- (a) Casual and temporary employees shall earn one (1) day or secondary seniority for each shift or portion of shift worked.
- (b) Secondary seniority shall be recognized once an employee has worked forty-five (45) shifts within any twelve (12) month period.
- (c) Secondary seniority shall be for the purpose of applying for a regular or temporary position (via posting) and for the purpose of shift assignment.
- (d) For the purpose of filling temporary or regular positions, an employee who applies for such a position shall be considered for a temporary or regular position after regular employees and prior to outside applicants.
- (e) Once a temporary or casual employee has a regular position and passed the applicable probationary period the employee's total seniority shall be applied retroactively to their hire date as a regular employee plus fortyfive (45) working days.
- (f) Employees who have recognized secondary seniority shall be offered short-term work for which they are qualified on the basis of their secondary seniority.
- (g) An employee shall only lose seniority in the event:
 - (1) The employee fails to respond to five (5) consecutive call-ins or callouts. Casual and temporary employees shall not lose seniority if they are unable to work due to extenuating circumstances.
 - (2) The employee is discharged for just cause and is not reinstated.
 - (3) The employee self terminates their employment.
 - (4) The employee has not worked for a period longer than twelve (12) months.

15.03 Probation for Newly Hired Employees

For purposes of seniority, a newly hired employee shall be on probation for a period of sixty (60) working days or three (3) months, whichever is less, from the date of hiring. Upon successful completion of the probationary period, an employee's seniority date shall be retroactive to the date of hire in the regular position.

15.04 Seniority List

The Board shall maintain a seniority list showing the date upon which each employee's service commenced. An up-to-date seniority list shall be sent to the President of the Union on October 15th each year, and posted in each site

location and the Board office.

15.05 No Loss of Seniority

An employee shall not lose seniority rights if they are absent from work because of sickness, accident, disability, layoff except as provided in Article 15.06, or leave of absence approved by the Board.

15.06 Loss of Seniority

An employee shall only lose their seniority in the event:

- (a) They are discharged for just cause and are not reinstated.
- (b) They resign.
- (c) They are absent from work in excess of three (3) working days without notifying their Supervisor, or without sufficient cause.
- (d) Following a layoff, they fail to return to work within fourteen (14) calendar days upon being notified in writing to do so.
 - a. A mutually agreeable extension of the fourteen (14) calendar days may be granted due to extenuating circumstances. Details of such extension shall be shared with the Union. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to keep the Board informed of their current address.
- (e) They are laid off for a period longer than twelve (12) months.

15.07 Transfers and Seniority Outside Bargaining Unit

No employee shall be transferred to a position outside the Bargaining Unit without their consent. If an employee is transferred to a position outside of the Bargaining Unit, they shall retain their seniority up to the date of leaving the unit, for a period of sixty (60) working days, or three (3) months, whichever is greater.

ARTICLE 16 PROMOTIONS AND STAFF CHANGES

16.01 Job Postings

- (a) When a vacancy occurs in any classification covered by this Agreement, notice thereof shall be e-mailed to all employees and a copy shall be emailed to the President of the Union. All positions may be advertised externally, concurrent with the internal job posting. Such postings and notice shall contain the following information: nature and location of the position, hours of work, wage rate or salary range, and closing date for accepting applications. Applications by facsimile or email will be accepted.
- (b) If a vacancy occurs while school is not in session, the district administration shall make a reasonable attempt to contact those employees who have expressed an interest in changing positions.
- (c) It is the responsibility of the employee to provide in writing a telephone number where they may be contacted should a vacancy occur during school closure. It is the responsibility of the employees on layoff to ensure

that the Board has their current address and that such laid off employees ensure that they check their email regularly.

16.02 Temporary Vacancies

- (a) This Article shall not apply to temporary replacements necessitated by:
 - Illness,
 - Injury,
 - Leave of absence
 - Vacation or temporary filling of vacancies where the anticipated duration of the leave will not be greater than three (3) months, unless otherwise mutually agreed upon by the Parties.

An employee who has been filling a temporary vacancy shall not be confirmed as permanently assigned to that position until the job has been posted and the successful applicant selected in accordance with this Article.

- (b) The Board shall post any vacancy that is expected to continue in excess of three (3) months.
- (c) The probationary appointment may be extended in accordance with Article 10.01 Probationary employee.

16.03 Trial Period

If the successful applicant is a regular or temporary employee, they shall be placed on trial for a period of sixty (60) working days. Conditional on satisfactory performance, such trial promotion or transfer shall become permanent after the period of sixty (60) working days.

If the Board proposes an extension to the trial period, such a proposal shall be sent, in writing, to the Union with a copy to the employee and shall detail:

- (a) the length of the proposed extension;
- (b) the reasons for such extension;
- (c) the plan of action to help the employee successfully complete the trial period.

The Trial period shall only be extended once.

In the event the successful applicant proves unsatisfactory in the position, they shall be returned to their former position, at the prevailing rate of pay for that position, without loss of seniority. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of positions shall also be transferred to their former position.

16.04 Threshold Ability Selection

(a) In making staff changes, transfers or promotions, appointment shall be made of the applicant with the greatest seniority and having the required

qualifications.

(b) If, as a result of any Education Training Review, changes are required to qualifications for support staff positions, all employees on payroll as of June 15, 2000 shall be legacied as qualified in their positions and positions they have previously performed satisfactorily in the District for the purpose of making appointments.

16.05 Resignation

An employee shall give at least two (2) weeks' notice of their intention to resign. Such notice shall be given in writing to the employee's immediate Supervisor.

16.06 Maintenance of Pay Equity Agreement

- 1) It is important that each Party maintain accurate job descriptions and job ratings on an ongoing basis. Failure to do so will serve to damage the integrity of the program.
- 2) The initial review shall commence following the finalization of all reconsiderations and problems that may arise with the implementation of this job evaluation program. Thereafter, it is the intention of the Parties to periodically review jobs upon request and to conduct a comprehensive review of all positions every five (5) years.
- 3) Whenever the Employer creates a new position or changes the duties and responsibilities of a job, or the incumbent(s)/Union feels that the duties and responsibilities of a job have been changed, or that the job description does not reflect the duties and responsibilities of the job, the following procedures shall be followed:
 - (a) The incumbent(s)/Union or the Supervisor/Employer may request a job evaluation review by completing and submitting a Job Evaluation Form.
 - (b) Upon receipt of a completed Job Evaluation Reconsideration Form the Committee (two (2) Union representatives and two (2) Board representatives) shall proceed to gather accurate, up-to-date information on the job. The gathering of information shall involve requesting the incumbents(s) and Supervisor to complete an up-todate analysis questionnaire. Where further information is required, interviews shall be held with incumbents and/or Supervisors and/or visits to the job site. Based on this information, the Committee shall update the job descriptions as authorized by the Supervisor, as necessary.

In the absence of a Committee, the Parties will strike an ad hoc Committee to address classification discrepancies.

(c) Where the job description has been changed, the Committee shall meet to rate each sub factor of the job, and to establish a new rating for the job and advise the incumbent(s) and/or Supervisor of its decision. The rating of the job shall determine the pay rate for the job.

- (d) If the job is rated at a pay grade higher than the existing pay grade, the incumbent's rate of pay shall be adjusted retroactive to the date the Job Evaluation Reconsideration Form was submitted. The incumbent(s) shall retain the same place on any increment grid.
- (e) If the job is rated at a pay grade lower than the existing pay grade, all incumbents of such job shall be identified as "Red Circled" and shall continue to receive all negotiated increases.
- (f) No incumbent will have their wages reduced following reevaluation of their job and the establishment of a new wage structure.

ARTICLE 17 LAYOFFS AND RECALLS

17.01 Definition of Layoff

A layoff is defined as an action by the Board which results in a reduction in the workforce or the reduction of an employee's regular hours.

17.02 Role of Seniority in Layoffs

In the event of a layoff, employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their community-based seniority, provided that the remaining staff possess the qualifications required in their respective positions. Employees may remain on a recall list for a maximum of twelve (12) months.

17.03 Bumping Rights

- (a) An employee about to be laid off may bump any employee with less seniority, provided the employee exercising the right is qualified to perform the work of the less senior employee. The right to bump shall include the right to bump up.
- (b) The right to bump shall not include the right to bump into another classification unless the Employer approves such a bump. The Employer shall determine the qualifications necessary to bump into another classification in a fair, just and reasonable manner.

17.04 Recall Procedure

Employees shall be recalled in the order of their seniority, provided they are qualified, to do the regular or temporary work available.

17.05 No New Employees

No new employees shall be hired until those laid off have been given an opportunity of recall. If an employee turns down the first offer of employment, in their home community in a classification and at the same or greater hours per week as employed prior to layoff, they shall be deleted from the recall list.

17.06 Notice of Layoff

The Board agrees to notify regular employees and the Union of layoffs in accordance with the following periods of notice:

- (a) One (1) week's notice where the regular or probationary employee has completed a period of employment of less than six (6) consecutive months.
- (b) Two (2) weeks' notice where the employee has completed a period of employment of at least six (6) consecutive months.
- (c) After the completion of a period of employment of three (3) consecutive years, one (1) additional weeks' notice, and for each subsequent completed year of employment, an additional week's notice, up to a maximum of eight (8) weeks' notice.
- (d) If an employee has not had the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article, they shall be paid for the days for which work was not available.
- (e) The Board is not required to issue to employees who work only for the school year, a notice of layoff for the periods when school is not normally in session.

17.07 Severance Pay

Severance pay shall be provided to employees on the following basis:

- (a) An employee who is laid off shall have the option of receiving severance pay in lieu of being placed on the recall list. Severance pay shall be calculated as:
 - (i) Employee with less than six (6) months service two percent (2%) of annual earnings;
 - (ii) Employee between six (6) months and one year's service four percent (4%) of annual earnings;
 - (iii) Employee with more than one (1) year's service five percent (5%) of annual earnings for each year.
- (b) Severance pay shall not exceed one (1) year's annual earnings.
- (c) In this clause, "annual earnings" shall mean the employee's regular hourly rate at the time of termination times the employee's regularly scheduled annual hours at the time of termination.

17.08 Time Limit

The Board agrees there will be no layoff of 10-month employees after October 15th of each school year.

ARTICLE 18 HOURS OF WORK

18.01 Clerical and Student Assistants' Hours of Work

The regular work for an employee shall consist of thirty-five (35) hours of scheduled work per week plus a one (1) hour unpaid break for meals per day. The hours worked each day shall be consecutive. By mutual agreement between an employee and their Supervisor, a meal break may be less than one

(1) hour. Nothing in this Article prevents the Employer from establishing part time positions.

18.02 Maintenance

The regular work day for maintenance employees shall consist of eight (8) consecutive hours per day, between 7:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. plus a one (1) hour unpaid break for a meal. By mutual agreement between an employee and their Supervisor, a meal break may be less than one (1) hour. Nothing in this Article prevents the Employer from establishing part time positions.

18.03 Custodial

The regular work day for custodial employees shall consist of eight (8) hours per day inclusive of a one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) hour break for a meal to be taken on the job. Nothing in this Article prevents the Employer from establishing part time positions.

18.04 Regular Work Week

The regular work week shall consist of five (5) days, from Monday to Friday.

18.05 Variance from Regular Hours

By mutual agreement between the employee and the immediate Supervisor, the regular work day and/or regular work week may be varied for a temporary period to be determined by the two (2) Parties. Such variance shall be in writing and signed by both Parties.

18.06 Paid Rest Periods

All employees shall be permitted a paid fifteen (15) minute rest period, in the first half of a shift and a paid fifteen (15) minute rest period in the second half of a shift provided they have worked for a minimum of two (2) hours between breaks.

18.07 Where No Work is Available

An employee reporting for work in any day and being sent home before they have completed four (4) hours work, shall be paid for four (4) hours at their regular rate of pay. In the event an employee reports for work but is sent home before commencing work, they shall be paid for two (2) hours at their regular rate, unless they were advised by the immediate Supervisor not to report to work. Employees working less than four (4) hours per day as per Article 18.10 shall only be eligible for payment up to the maximum number of hours normally worked.

18.08 Assignment of Extra Work

Qualified part-time employees may, where operationally possible, be given an opportunity to perform extra hours of work, including that of temporary replacements, to reach a regular work day or week before hiring new employees.

18.09 Non-Instructional Days

All regular part-time and full-time employees shall be provided with work, or job-related professional development or training on declared non-instructional days.

18.10 Four (4) Hour Daily Minimum

- 1) The Employer is committed to providing a minimum of four (4) hours of work for a regular/continuing employee reporting for work and for a temporary employee reporting for work.
- 2) Exemptions from the four (4) hour minimum:
 - (a) Atlin School Indigenous Language and Cultural Assistant (minimum 2.5 hours per day)
 - (b) Denetia School Indigenous Language and Cultural Assistant (minimum 1 hour per day)
 - (c) Other positions by mutual agreement.
- 3) The four (4) hours shall be consecutive but may exclude a lunch period up to one (1) hour or a shorter period as defined elsewhere in the Collective Agreement.

ARTICLE 19 OVERTIME

19.01 Overtime Entitlement

All overtime work, as authorized by the immediate Supervisor, shall be paid as follows:

- (a) All time worked over the regular work day shall be paid for at time and one-half (1½) the regular rate for the first three (3) hours of overtime worked in any one day, and double (2) the regular rate thereafter until the commencement of the employee's next scheduled shift.
- (b) Overtime work on the first day of rest shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1½) the employee's regular rate for the first three (3) hours worked and two (2) times the regular rate thereafter.
- (c) Overtime work on the second day of rest shall be paid at the rate of two(2) times the regular rate of the employee.

19.02 Overtime for Part-Time Employees

A part-time employee working less than the regular working hours per day shall not qualify for overtime rates until the daily regular hours for full time employees in that position have been exceeded.

19.03 Time off in Lieu of Overtime

Instead of cash payment for overtime or call-out an employee may request to receive time off at the appropriate overtime rate at a mutually agreeable time. Banked overtime not used by June 30th may be carried forward to subsequent years. Payment may be requested at any time and will be made at the rate in

effect. Banked days taken shall require the prior approval of the employee's immediate Supervisor.

19.04 Compensation of Work on Paid Holidays

If an employee is required to work on a statutory or public holiday, they shall be paid at double their regular hourly rate.

19.05 Call Out Pay Guarantee

A full-time or part-time employee, who is called out to work outside their regular working hours, shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours at overtime rates.

Call-outs should have the prior approval of the Secretary-Treasurer whenever possible. Secondary call-outs shall be paid only if the employee has completed the work and left the place of the first call out.

19.06 Meal Break

After four (4) continuous hours of overtime or call-out, an employee is entitled to an unpaid break for a meal. The Board shall pay the cost of the meal.

ARTICLE 20 STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

20.01 Statutory Holidays

An eligible employee shall be entitled to a holiday with pay at their regular rate for each of the following statutory holidays:

New Year's Day	Labour Day
Family Day	*National Day of Truth and Reconciliation
Good Friday	Thanksgiving Day
Easter Monday	Remembrance Day
Victoria Day	Christmas Day
Canada Day	Boxing Day
BC Day	

and any other day proclaimed by the Federal or Provincial governments, provided such holidays are observed on normal working days.

- (a) A twelve (12) month employee shall be eligible for each of the statutory holidays falling within their period of employment.
- (b) A ten (10) month employee shall be eligible for each of the statutory holidays falling within their period of employment.
- (c) A part time employee shall have their statutory holidays prorated on the basis of hours of work relative to a full-time employee.
- (d) Casual and temporary employees shall be eligible for statutory holidays as per the Employment Standards Act.

* In the event that the provincial government declares Truth and Reconciliation Day as a different day than the federal government, the Parties agree that only the provincial holiday will be observed.

20.02 Stats on Vacation Time or Day Off

When any of the above-mentioned holidays fall on an employee's scheduled day off, or are observed during an employee's vacation period, the employee shall receive another day off with pay, at a mutually agreeable time.

20.03 When a Holiday Falls on a Non-Working Day

If a statutory or public holiday should fall on a non-working day, the Board shall declare that the working day immediately preceding the holiday or the working day immediately following the holiday, or any other day mutually agreed between the Parties, shall be observed in lieu of the holiday. Should the Provincial Government choose another date, then that date shall be observed.

20.04 Discretionary Days

Twelve (12) month regular employees are entitled to two (2) discretionary days with pay per year. Ten (10) month employees are entitled to one (1) discretionary day with pay per school year. The following conditions apply:

- (a) Days are not cumulative from year to year.
- (b) Days are to be taken at a time mutually agreeable to the employee and their Supervisor and may not be used to extend holidays.
- (c) A request for a discretionary day must be received at least one (1) full day prior to the day of leave.
- (d) Employees in their first year of service shall be eligible for their first discretionary day after six (6) months of services and their second after the next three (3) months of service.

ARTICLE 21 VACATIONS

21.01 Length of Vacations

A regular employee shall receive an annual vacation with pay in accordance with their years of employment as follows:

Less than one (1) year	seven percent (7%) of gross pay
One (1) year and less than five (5) years	20 working days
Five (5) years and less than ten (10) years	25 working days
Ten (10) years and over	30 working days

A year of service is defined as each twelve (12) month period commencing from the date an employee began as a regular employee.

(a) Casual and temporary employees shall receive vacation pay at seven percent (7%) of gross pay.

21.02 Casual and Temporary Employees

Casual and temporary employees shall only be eligible for vacation pay of four percent (4%) of gross earnings. These earnings shall be calculated and paid to the employee each pay period.

21.03 Leaving Board Service

An employee leaving the service of the Board shall receive payment of wages in lieu of vacation owed to them at the time of leaving. A deceased employee's estate shall be credited with the value of vacation credits owing them.

21.04 Vacation Period

- (a) Vacations shall be taken at a mutually agreeable time arranged between the Board and the employee. In the event of conflicting vacation date preferences, the choice shall be determined in accordance with seniority. Except as otherwise provided in this Collective Agreement, an employee is entitled to schedule their vacation in one continuous period.
- (b) Regular ten (10) month employees shall be laid off on the last day and rehired on the first day of the local school calendar.
- (c) Regular ten (10) month employees shall take their annual vacation during the Winter and Spring Breaks in accordance with the individual School Board approved school calendar.

Any additional vacation entitlement shall be paid the first pay period in June in accordance with Article 21.01.

- (d) Custodians shall take their annual vacation during the summer break.
- (e) Regular twelve (12) month employees who have accumulated twenty-five (25) working days' vacation or more, may take annual vacations at Winter and Spring Break, subject to operational requirements of the district.

21.05 Extended Vacation

- (a) In the year following an employee's fifth (5th) anniversary and every five
 (5) years thereafter, an employee shall be entitled to an additional two (2) weeks' vacation with pay at two percent (2%) of gross annual earnings per week.
- (b) This extended vacation may not be carried over to a future year.
- (c) Twelve (12) month employees have the option of taking the paid vacation time off or be paid out in cash for these additional two (2) weeks.
- (d) Ten (10) month employees shall be paid out the first pay period in June.
- (e) Twelve (12) month employees are allowed to use their extended vacation during Winter or Spring break subject to operational requirements of the district.

ARTICLE 22 SICK LEAVE

22.01 Sick Leave Defined

- (a) "Sick Leave" means the period of time a regular employee is permitted to be absent from work with pay (if the employee has an accrued sick day bank) or without pay (if an employee has exhausted their accrued sick day bank), by virtue of sickness of self or dependant, or an unavoidable quarantine or accident for which compensation is not payable under the Workers' Compensation Act.
- (b) Regular part-time employees shall receive sick leave prorated in accordance with hours of work per month relative to the hours of work of a regular full-time employee.

22.02 Accumulation of Sick Leave

(a) Sick leave shall be granted to regular employees on the basis of one and one-half (1½) days for every month of service. The unused portion of an employee's sick leave shall accrue for their future benefits.

A deduction shall be made from accumulated sick leave of all normal working days (exclusive of statutory holidays) absent for sick leave. An employee is entitled to use up to one hundred twenty (120) days of their unused sick leave in any one (1) school year.

(b) Sick entitlement shall be credited semi-monthly at a rate of .6923 paid sick leave days. This article is subject to Article 22.01 - Sick Leave Defined.

22.03 Sick leave During Leave of Absence or Layoff

When an employee is given leave of absence for any reason, they shall not accumulate sick leave credits for the period of such absence but shall retain their cumulative credit.

When an employee is laid off, they shall not accumulate sick leave credits for the period of such layoff but shall retain their cumulative credit for a maximum of twelve (12) months following the date of layoff.

22.04 Extension of Sick Leave

An employee who has exhausted their sick leave credits or does not qualify for sick leave with pay may be allowed leave of absence without pay up to a maximum period of one (1) year.

22.05 Proof of Illness

Employees are required to provide to the Board, appropriate documentation of medical appointments. Absences in excess of three (3) days must be certified by a duly qualified medical practitioner for any illness. The Board shall pay the fees of the medical practitioner required for providing proof of illness if such fees are not covered by another source.

22.06 Sick Leave Records

A record of all unused sick leave shall be kept by the Board. An employee is to be advised on application of the amount of sick leave accrued to their credit.

ARTICLE 23 LEAVE OF ABSENCE

23.01 Union Business

- (a) The Board agrees to grant time off without pay and benefits to officers of the Union in the employ of the Board for Union business purposes. The Supervisor and the employee shall mutually agree on when the time off is to be taken. No more than one (1) member of the Bargaining Unit can be released from a building or work facility at one time.
- (b) During leave of absence for Union business, the Board agrees to maintain the employee's regular wages and benefits. The Union shall reimburse the Board for the employee's regular wages and benefits as per the Collective Agreement while on such leave.

23.02 Leave of Absence for Union Functions

- (a) Upon request to the Board, one (1) employee elected or appointed to represent the Union at conventions may be allowed leave of absence.
- (b) Upon request to the Board, an employee may be granted leave of absence to attend executive and committee meetings and seminars of CUPE, its affiliated or chartered bodies and any labour organizations with which the Union is affiliated. No more than one (1) member of the Bargaining Unit may be absent from the same community in the District at any one time.

- (c) Requests for such leaves must be submitted in writing to the employee's immediate Supervisor at least two (2) weeks prior to the commencement of the leave.
- (d) During leave of absence for Union functions, the Board agrees to maintain the employee's regular wages and benefits. The Union shall reimburse the Board for the employee's regular wages and benefits as per the Collective Agreement while on such leave.

23.03 Leave for Full-Time Union Officials

- (a) An employee who is elected or appointed to a full-time position with the Canadian Union of Public Employees shall be entitled to leave without pay and with retention of seniority accumulation up to the date of commencing leave. Such leave shall be for a period of one (1) year or less if so requested. This leave may be renewed for up to a maximum of two (2) years.
- (b) Upon return to work from a leave up to one (1) year, if the employee has the necessary seniority they shall be returned to their former position.
- (c) Upon return to work from a leave in excess of one (1) year, the Board may place the employee in any position for which the employee is qualified and has the necessary seniority, provided that a full-time employee shall have the right to return to a full-time position.

23.04 Bereavement Leave

An employee shall be granted up to five (5) regularly scheduled consecutive work days leave without loss of salary or wages, in the case of the death or serious illness in their immediate family of a parent, spouse, common-law spouse, brother, sister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, child, foster children, step-children, step-parent, grandparent, grandchild, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law daughter-in-law, step sibling and any other relative permanently residing in the employee's home or with whom the employee permanently resides. Reasonable leave of absence may be granted without pay for travel and estate affairs. An employee shall be granted a leave of absence without pay when they have been requested to be a pallbearer at a non-relative's funeral.

23.05 Illness in the Family

When it becomes necessary for an employee to care for a sick immediate family member other than a dependent, an employee shall be entitled, after notifying their Immediate Supervisor, to take unpaid leave for family illness. For the purpose of this Article, "immediate family" includes the spouse, child, foster child, parent, guardian, sibling, grandchild, or grandparent of the employee who lives with the employee as a member of the family.

23.06 Cultural Leave Days

(a) Regular employees of Indigenous ancestry are entitled to up to three (3) paid days per school year to observe or participate in traditional Indigenous activities that connect these employees to their culture and language.

(b) These days are non-cumulative and do not carry forward from one school year to the next.

(c) A minimum of two (2) weeks' notice for leave is required under this provision and will be subject to operational requirements of the District.

23.07 Maternity Leave/Adoption Leave

An employee shall have the right, upon written request, to a leave of absence for pregnancy on the following basis:

- (a) An employee shall be granted unpaid leave to a maximum of eighteen (18) months at the employee's option. The employee shall notify the Board at least three (3) weeks prior to returning to the job. The employee shall be placed in their former job, or another which is consistent with their seniority, qualifications and former salary. Seniority shall continue to accumulate during this leave and upon reinstatement, all increments to wages and benefits to which the employee would have been entitled had the leave not been taken, shall be reinstated. The Board shall continue to provide its share of coverage and pay its share of premiums for all the employee benefits and pension plan while on maternity leave.
- (b) If during the maternity leave or prior to taking the leave, an employee requests in writing that a longer period of leave is required than allowed above, and the Board approves, then upon conclusion of the maternity leave, the employee shall be considered on leave of absence for up to a maximum of six (6) additional months.

The Board shall continue to provide coverage for all employee benefit plans, provided the employee pays the premiums. Seniority does not accumulate during this period.

The Board shall endeavour to place the employee in a job consistent with their qualifications and seniority which does not result in the layoff or demotion of a regular employee. The Board is under no obligation to reinstate the employee unless a vacancy occurs. Upon the conclusion of this additional leave, an employee shall be considered on layoff.

- (c) Where the pregnancy is terminated before the employee requests leave, the Board shall, on receipt of a medical certificate, grant the employee leave of up to six (6) weeks during which time the benefits of Article 23.05 (a) shall apply.
- (d) Where an employee qualifies for benefits under the Employment Insurance Act (parental benefits), the provisions of this Article shall, upon request, be granted to them.
- (e) Upon receipt of a written request, the Board shall grant an employee an unpaid leave, as per 23.05 (a) for the purpose of adoption of a child. An

employee shall not be eligible for a leave under Article 23.05 (a) and an adoption leave in Article 23.10 (c) for the same child.

23.08 Paid Jury or Court Witness Duty Leave

The Board shall grant leave of absence to an employee who serves as a juror or as a subpoenaed court witness other than on their own behalf. The Board shall pay such an employee the difference between their normal earnings and the payment they receive for jury service or court witness, excluding payment for travelling, meals or other expenses. The employee shall present proof of service and the amount of pay received.

23.09 General Leave

The Board may, upon written request, grant leave of absence with or without pay and without loss of seniority to an employee requesting such leave for good and sufficient cause.

23.10 Leave for Public Duties

The Board recognizes the right of an employee to participate in public affairs.

Upon request to the Secretary-Treasurer, an employee shall be granted leave of absence without pay and benefits to:

- (a) stand as a candidate in federal, provincial or municipal election. An employee who is elected to public office shall, upon request, be granted leave of absence without pay and benefits and without seniority accumulation during the term of office.
- (b) act in a community services function or as a community representative (e.g. Winter Games, etc.) for up to two (2) days per year.

23.11 Medical Care Leave

In recognition of the absence of adequate medical facilities, employees shall be allowed paid leave of absence in order to engage in medical care when the employee, or their dependents, is referred by medical personnel to a medical practitioner or medical facility in another municipality. Paid leave of absence shall be allowed under this Article when a doctor refers an employee to a dentist for other than routine medical reasons. Employees shall be required to show proof of medical referral. Such leave shall be deducted from the employee's accrued unused sick leave.

For medical travel benefits, see Plan Overview (The Standardized Provincial Extended Health Benefits Plan)in Appendix D.

(<u>https://www.pebtbenefits.ca/en/SelectDistrict_PEBT.asp</u> (and select SD 87 from dropdown box).

23.12 Special Leave

- (a) Employee's marriage three (3) days paid leave;
- (b) Birth of an employee's child when spouse has a child five (5) days paid leave;

- (c) Adoption of child five (5) days paid leave.
- (d) Band Council elections four (4) hours clear of work for eligible workers.

23.13 Volunteer Fire fighters

An employee who is a member of a Volunteer Fire Department shall advise the Board.

Those employees who are called out for a fire emergency during working hours shall notify their immediate Supervisor and shall suffer no loss of wages or benefits under the Collective Agreement. Custodial and Maintenance employees when working with no immediate Supervisor present shall be exempt from notification until after the emergency has been dealt with.

23.14 Ambulance Attendants

An employee who is an Ambulance Attendant shall advise the Board. Those employees who are called out for emergency reasons shall notify their immediate Supervisor and shall be granted leave of absence without pay.

23.15 Compassionate Care Leave

As defined by the Employment Insurance Act, employees will be granted a Compassionate Care leave without pay of up to twenty-seven (27) weeks to care for a seriously ill or seriously injured family member. This leave is in addition to all other existing leave provisions in the Collective Agreement. During the leave, the Employee will continue to accumulate seniority under the Collective Agreement. The Board shall continue benefits of Article 26.01 and 26.03 at the employee's cost. On return from leave, Employees will be placed in their former position.

The Employee may request an extension to the leave in writing should circumstances warrant. Approval of an extension will not be unreasonably denied. During an extended leave, the Employee will continue to accrue seniority.

ARTICLE 24 PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

24.01 Pay Days

- (a) The Board shall pay wages on a bi-weekly basis, in accordance with the wage rates specified in Schedule "A" attached hereto and forming part of this Collective Agreement. An employee shall receive a statement showing hours of work, rates of pay and each deduction, with each biweekly payment.
- (b) The Board shall deposit all salary payments to the employee's account in the bank of their choice not later than the fifth (5th) working day after the pay period.

24.02 Assignments and Substitutes

A member of the Bargaining Unit who, for a period in excess of one (1) working day, is assigned to or substitutes on any other job within the Bargaining Unit,

or who performs the duties of a higher classification within the Bargaining Unit, shall receive from the beginning of the assignment, the rate as if promoted to the job or the employee's rate, whichever is greater.

24.03 Statement

In October of each year the Board shall furnish to each employee a statement of the following:

- (a) Employee benefits;
- (b) Seniority;
- (c) Sick leave credit;
- (d) Rate of pay;
- (e) Discretionary days (# of days for the year).

24.04 Temporary assignment to Excluded Position

- (a) An employee who, in addition to their regular duties is temporarily assigned the responsibilities of an excluded position, during the absence of the excluded employee from the District, shall receive in addition to their regular rate of pay an increase of eight percent (8%) for all such hours worked.
- (b) An employee who is temporarily assigned the responsibilities of an excluded position may be requested by the Board to take an oath of confidentiality regarding work performed in their duties in the excluded position.

24.05Tool Allowance

A twelve-month maintenance employee who is required to provide their own hand tools shall receive a two hundred dollar (\$200.00) per annum tool allowance. This allowance is payable within fifteen (15) working days following the anniversary date of the employee. The Employer will reimburse all other work-related tool purchases up to a five hundred dollar (\$500.00) overall maximum, per school year, upon receipt.

24.06Travel Allowance

All employees shall be eligible for a travel allowance of two thousand one hundred dollars (\$2,100.00) per annum. The travel allowance shall be paid 50% on the first pay in December and 50% on the first pay period in June.

Travel Allowance shall increase annually at the same rate as wages.

Part-time employees shall be paid travel allowance on a pro rata scale according to the full time equivalent.

24.07 First Aid

The Board shall pay an allowance of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) per annum to an employee designated First Aid attendant who possesses the necessary training as required by the WorkSafe BC.

24.08 Vehicle Allowance

A payment per kilometre, as set by the District, shall be paid to any employee who uses their personal vehicle for Board approved business.

ARTICLE 25 JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION

25.01 Classification Changes and New Positions

When the duties in any Bargaining Unit classification are substantially changed, or when a new position is created within the Bargaining Unit, the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiation between the Parties. If the Parties are unable to agree as to the classification and/or rate of pay of the job in question, such dispute shall be submitted to arbitration. The new rate shall become retroactive to the time the position was first filled by an employee.

ARTICLE 26 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

26.01 Health Plans

As a condition of employment for those regular full-time employees who work fifteen (15) hours or more per week, the Board shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premiums of the Extended Health, Dental and Medical Referral Travel benefits as defined within the Standardized Provincial Extended Health Plan.

Details of the Standardized Provincial Extended Health Benefits Plan can be found in Appendix D (<u>https://www.pebtbenefits.ca/en/SelectDistrict_PEBT.asp</u> (and select SD 87 from dropdown box).

26.02 Pension

- (a) All regular employees covered by the Agreement shall participate in and be covered by the provisions of the Municipal Pension Plan.
- (b) An employee reaching the maximum retirement age may, at the discretion of the Board, continue in the Board's employment on a year-to-year basis following their sixty-fifth (65th) birthday.

26.03 Group Life Insurance

The Board shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the premiums for enrolment in a group life insurance plan for all regular employees who work fifteen (15) hours or more per week, who have completed their probationary period. Employees who select the accidental death and dismemberment coverage shall be responsible for the total cost of this additional coverage.

26.04 Long Term Disability Plan

(a) The Board agrees to administer the government funded LTD Plan provided through the Public Education Benefits Trust.

- (b) If the Union implements a long-term disability plan, the Board agrees to administer the Plan for eligible employees. The Plan and carrier shall be determined by the Union.
- (c) The Board agrees to deduct the premium from the earnings of each enrolled employee and forward the premiums and required reports once a month to the carrier of the Plan.

26.05 Continuation of Benefits

- (a) An employee receiving the benefits of Article 26.01 and 26.03 shall continue to do so, at the Employers expense for the premium during the summer months, providing the regular assignment of the employee is on the basis of ten (10) months a year and providing the employee returns to the job in September.
- (b) The Board shall continue the benefits of Article 26.01 and 26.03 when an employee is absent due to sickness or accident. Payment of the premiums by the Board shall be limited to the number of sick days available up to a maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) days, or in the case of a WorkSafe BC claim, up to a maximum of six (6) months.
- (c) In other cases, an employee may continue coverage for any of the benefits so long as they are on approved leave of absence or retains recall rights, provided they pay the entire premium to the Board each month and provided the carrier of the Plan permits such coverage.

26.06 WorkSafe BC's Compensation Benefit Continuation

An employee prevented from performing their regular work with the Board on account of an occupational accident that is recognized by WorkSafe BC as compensable within the meaning of the Act shall have their benefits continued as if they were at work up to a maximum of six (6) months.

26.07 WorkSafe BC's Compensation Salary Continuation

Employees with accumulated sick leave to their credit shall turn over, or caused to be turned over, to the Board monies paid by WorkSafe BC other than lump sum settlements or disability pensions.

The Board shall pay the employee(s) so affected their normal and regular pay. The difference between the employee's pay and the WorkSafe BC cheque shall be deducted from the employee's accumulated sick leave credits. For the purpose of this Agreement the above-noted difference shall be established as one tenth (0.10) of a day for each working day that the employee is covered by WorkSafe BC.

ARTICLE 27 HEALTH AND SAFETY

27.01 Injury Pay Provisions

An employee who is injured during working hours and is required to leave for treatment or is sent home as a result of such injury shall receive payment for the remainder of the shift at their regular rate of pay, without deduction from sick leave, unless a doctor or nurse states that the employee is fit for further work on that shift.

27.02 Transportation of Accident Victims

Transportation to the nearest physician or hospital for employees requiring medical care as a result of an accident at work shall be at the expense of the Board.

27.03 Asbestoses Testing

While in the employ of the Board, any employee whose regular assigned work was in Cassiar shall have the right to be tested annually for lung capacity and/or asbestoses at no cost to the employee.

27.04 Safety Boots and Clothing

The Board shall provide and clean all protective clothing, coveralls and gloves as required. The Board shall also provide reflective safety vests when the employee's working conditions warrant them.

The following reimbursement will be provided upon receipt:

CSA approved Safety Boots: up to three hundred fifty dollars (\$350.00) per school year.

27.05 Safety in the Workplace

Staff assigned to work with students on a regular basis shall be involved in the development and/or revision of the applicable Individual Safe Work Instructions or equivalent.

27.06 Unsafe Working Conditions

A claim by an employee or a group of employees that they are working under unsafe working conditions shall be investigated as quickly as possible by the Board in accordance with WorkSafe BC Guidelines. No employee shall be required to work on an assignment which is unsafe. Such employee(s) shall not be subject to disciplinary action and temporary alternative work at no loss in pay shall be provided until the matter is resolved.

ARTICLE 28 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

28.01 Definition

Technological Change means:

- (a) The introduction by the Board of a change in its work, undertaking or service of equipment or material of a different nature or kind, than previously used by the Board in that work, undertaking or service; or
- (b) A change in the manner, method or procedure in which the Board carries on its work, undertaking or service that is related to the introduction of that equipment or material.

(c) Technological change does not include normal layoffs resulting from a decrease in the amount of work to be done.

28.02 Introduction of Technological Change

Where the Board introduces or intends to introduce a technological change, the following conditions shall apply:

- (a) A Regular Employee who is affected by technological change and requires new or greater skills shall receive priority for new training to maintain their job security with the Board. Such training shall be at the expense of the Board and there shall be no reduction in pay.
- (b) A Regular Employee who is demoted or whose job classification is devalued as a consequence of technological change, shall not suffer any reduction in pay. Such an employee shall be "red circled" and shall not receive a wage increase until the wage rate for the job exceeds the "red circled" rate.
- (c) A Regular Employee who is laid off from their job by virtue of technological change shall be given the opportunity to fill any vacancies in accordance with the Job Postings procedures of this Agreement.

28.03 Severance Pay

An employee who is laid off by the Board because of technological change shall be entitled to severance pay as per Article 17.07.

ARTICLE 29 GENERAL CONDITIONS

29.01 Educational Courses

The Board shall pay for courses successfully completed by employees who were given prior approval, and which relate directly to their role and responsibilities within the District. The procedure to be followed is:

- (a) A Non-Teaching Staff Improvement Application shall be filled out and submitted to the Secretary-Treasurer for approval prior to registering for the course.
- (b) If the Secretary-Treasurer approves the course, and it is successfully completed, the following expenses shall be paid:
 - (i) Course registration and/or fees, return travel, to the maximum of the return economy airfare, accommodation and per diem if the course is held elsewhere other than in the place of residence.
- (c) A travel/training advance of up to 75% of anticipated expenses will be prepaid to the employee for an approved course through the Travel/Training Advance Request process.
- (d) If the employee does not successfully complete the course, they shall reimburse the district for all related expenses pre-paid to the employee through the Travel/Training Advance Request process.

The decision as to the validity of the course requested shall be made by the Secretary Treasurer, in consultation with the employee's immediate Supervisor, the District Education staff and the CUPE Local 2052-02 executive. Only one (1) employee is eligible to be away from their regular employment at each school at one time, in order to attend an educational course unless it would be beneficial to the Board for more than one (1) person from a school to attend at the same time.

29.02 Contracting Out

The Employer shall not contract out, or replace with excluded staff, Bargaining Unit work unless agreed to by both Parties. The Union shall apply this article in a fair, just and reasonable manner.

Volunteers

No regular member of the Bargaining Unit will be laid off as a result of the use of volunteers and volunteers will not be used to displace hours held by existing CUPE employees.

29.03 Amalgamation or Merger

In the event that School District No.87 (Stikine) is merged, amalgamated or regionalized, the Board will do all things possible to protect and preserve the rights of each employee under this Agreement.

29.04 Sexual Harassment

The Board agrees that an employee has the right to work without sexual harassment. A claim of sexual harassment by an employee shall be considered as a grievance.

29.05 Personal Harassment

Harassment means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome. A single incident, if serious enough, can be sufficient to support an instance of harassment.

Harassment can be either psychological or physical or it can be a combination of both. It is any behaviour, whether deliberate or negligent, which denies individuals their dignity and respect, is offensive, threatening, embarrassing, or humiliating to the individual and adversely affects the working environment.

29.06 Bulletin Boards

The Board shall provide bulletin board space in all schools and the maintenance shop so that the Union may post information of interest to its members.

29.07 Workplace Violence

(a) Definition of violence: Any incident in which an employee is abused, threatened, or assaulted during the course of employment as defined by WorkSafe BC legislation: <u>www.worksafebc.com</u>.

(b) Reporting violent incidents: Parties agree to educate employees of the District and promote the reporting of all incidents of violence in an effort to eliminate or minimize the risk of workplace violence.

29.08 Situations of Immediate Danger

Where a situation is of immediate danger to an employee or student, the employee shall act judiciously to mitigate the danger and then report the situation to the appropriate Supervisor. The employee shall be advised of the actions taken to ensure the situation is remedied.

ARTICLE 30 GENERAL

30.01 Plural and Gender Neutral Terms May Apply

Gender neutral terms shall be used in this Agreement and shall be considered as if the plural has been used where the context of the party or parties so require.

30.02 Bargaining Unit

Local 2502 Coast Mountains School District is the Parent Local to the following sub-locals:

2052-01 PACES Daycare Society

2052-02 School District 87 Stikine

30.03 Replacement During Absences

The Employer shall continue its current practice of replacing absent employees on an as-needed basis.

30.04 Provincial Skills Enhancement Fund

When the Provincial Skills Enhancement Fund is established, the Parties will jointly develop a plan to access these funds. Such plan will take into consideration all members of CUPE Local 2052-02 when being developed.

30.05 Use of School Facilities

The Union shall have the right to use School Board Facilities and equipment for meetings and other Union activities, at no cost, in accordance with Board policy on the use of school facilities and subject to normal booking procedures. It is agreed that school functions will take precedence and any use of facilities which may interfere with school instructional time will not be permitted.

30.06 Pre-Retirement Seminar

The Board may grant a leave of absence with pay and without loss of benefits of two (2) days to employees with a minimum of ten (10) years' service with the Board, to attend the CUPE pre-retirement seminar. The Union will pay registration fees.

If the above approved seminar falls on a non-instructional day, the employee shall receive the employee's regular wages for the day when attending the seminar.

30.07 Examination of Students

The examination of students for communicable diseases or infestations shall not be the responsibility of a member of the Bargaining Unit. However, an employee who suspects a child may have a communicable disease or infestation shall report the concern to an immediate Supervisor for investigation.

30.08 Indemnification

The School Board agrees to defend, save harmless, and indemnify all CUPE Local 2052-02 employees from any proceedings which may be brought against them, and which arise from the lawful performance of their duties.

ARTICLE 31 TERM OF AGREEMENT

31.01 Duration

This Agreement shall be binding and remain in effect from July 01, 2022 to June 30, 2025 and shall continue from year to year thereafter unless either Party gives to the other Party notice to commence collective bargaining in accordance with the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia.

If negotiations extend beyond the anniversary date of the Agreement, the Board agrees to adhere to the provisions of this Agreement until a new Agreement is reached.

SIGNED THIS	DAY OF	of year 20

Signed on Behalf of:	Signed on Behalf of:			
The Board of School Trustees of School District No. 87 (STIKINE)	The Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 2052-02			
Tina Etzerza, Manager of Human Resources	Monica Brady, President, Local 2052-02			
Alanna Cameron, Secretary Treasurer	Lisa Medynski, Vice-President, Local 2052-02			

Appendix "A" – Wage Rates

Position	01-Jul-22		01-Jul-23			01-Jul-24			
	\$0.25; and 3.24% GWI	LMA %	FINAL	5.5% GWI; plus 1.25% COLA	LMA %	FINAL	2% GWI; plus COLA*	LMA %	FINAL
Accounting Clerk	\$34.12		\$34.12	\$36.42		\$36.42	\$37.15		\$37.15
Indigenous Language and Cultural	\$31.92	2%	\$32.56	\$34.76	1%	\$35.11	\$35.81		\$35.81
Computer Technician I	\$34.20	3%	\$35.23	\$37.61	2%	\$38.36	\$39.13	1%	\$39.52
Computer Technician II	\$36.66	5%	\$38.49	\$41.09	3%	\$42.32	\$43.17	1%	\$43.60
Custodian	\$28.65		\$28.65	\$30.58		\$30.58	\$31.19		\$31.19
Labourer (student)	\$22.86		\$22.86	\$24.40		\$24.40	\$24.89		\$24.89
Library Assistant	\$25.40		\$25.40	\$27.11		\$27.11	\$27.65		\$24.89
Maintenance I	\$34.20	3%	\$35.23	\$37.61	2%	\$38.36	\$39.13	1%	\$39.52
Maintenance III ***	\$39.17	3%	\$40.34	\$43.07	2%	\$43.93	\$44.81	1%	\$45.26
Maintenance Lead Hand ***	\$41.69	3%	\$42.94	\$45.84	2%	\$46.75	\$47.69	1%	\$48.17
Secretary	\$31.11			\$33.21		\$33.21	\$33.87		\$33.87
Educational Assistant	\$28.41	3%	\$29.26	\$31.24	2%	\$31.86	\$32.50	1%	\$32.83
Student Assistant	\$24.90	3%	\$25.65	\$27.38	2%	\$27.93	\$28.49	1%	\$28.77
Youth Care Worker	\$35.83			\$38.25		\$38.25	\$39.02		\$39.02
Trades Qualifications Allowance									
*** if an employee has a TQS	\$2.64	1%	\$2.67	\$2.85		\$3.13	\$2.91		\$3.19

* July 1, 2024 COLA adjustments will be confirmed by PSEC in March each year. 2024 COLA max is 1%.

In the event there is an ESD in future years, updated grids will be attached to the Collective Agreements as a new Appendix.

APPENDIX "B"

PAUL RAMSEY LETTER

June 6, 2000

Ref. No. 116240

Irene Holden Labour Relations Board 900 – 360 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V6B 6B2

and

Vince Ready 650 – 475 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V6B 4M9

Dear Irene Holden and Vince Ready:

Re: Industrial Inquiry Commission concerning settlement Collective Agreement Between British Columbia Public School Employers' Association (and Member School Districts) and School District Support Staff Trade Unions (IIC#2)

I am writing concerning IIC#2 and your recommendations for settlement dated May 30, 2000 (the "Report") and provided to the parties and government. Some of these issues were also referenced in the Commission's letter of May 31, 2000 to CUPE representative Gary Johnson.

I understand that you intend to use those recommendations for the basis of your binding decision in accordance with your powers under the <u>Public Education Support Staff Collective</u> Bargaining Assistance Act (the "Act").

I note, as well, that you make reference to certain items which the government has agreed to fund. I wish to affirm, for all parties to the collective agreement or to the documents deemed to be a collective agreement under the Act, that the government commits to fund as follows:

1. The monies committed by government and recommended by IIC#2 for the Four Hour Minimum Work Day Fund (5 million, annually) on each of July, 2000, July 1, 2001 and July 1, 2002, as described in the IIC#2 Report.

- Page 2 -

- 2. Should the \$5 million in the fund identified in paragraph #1 above not be entirely expended for purposes related to the Four Hour Minimum Work Day Fund, any surplus will be transferred to the employment security fund on a yearly basis. That fund is identified in paragraph #3 below. This arrangement is also recommended by IIC#2 and described in the Report.
- 3. The monies committed by government and recommended by IIC#2 for employment security (3.5 million, annually) on each of July 1, 2000, July 1, 2001 and July 1, 2002 to the Support Staff Job Security Fund as described in the IIC#2 Report.
- 4. The monies committed by government and recommended by IIC#2 to fund the LTD plan (11.8 million, annually) on January 1, 2002, January 1, 2003 and each January 1, thereafter, to the Joint Benefits Trust fund mentioned in the IIC#2 Report and the Accords.

The government also agrees that it would be appropriate for IIC#2 to retain jurisdiction regarding implementation of these items over the course of the collective agreement.

Sincerely,

Paul Ramsey Minister of Finance and Corporate Relations

Copied as per letter signed by Paul Ramsey

PROVINCIAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 2022

Provincial Framework Agreement ("Framework")

between

BC Public School Employers' Association ("BCPSEA")

and

The K-12 Presidents' Council and Support Staff Unions ("the Unions")

BCPSEA and the Unions ("the Parties") agree to recommend the following framework for inclusion in the collective agreements between local Support Staff Unions who are members of the K-12 Presidents' Council and Boards of Education.

1. Term

July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025

2. Wages Increases

General wage increases as follows:

July 1, 2022: \$0.25 per hour wage increase plus an additional 3.24%

July 1, 2023: 5.5% and up to 1.25% COLA adjustment

July 1, 2024: 2.0% and up to 1.0% COLA adjustment

The COLA adjustments will be the annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months per paragraph 4 below.

3. Wage Increase Retroactivity

- a. Employees employed on the date of ratification who were employed on July 1, 2022 shall receive retroactive payment of wage increases to July 1, 2022.
- b. Employees hired after July 1, 2022 who were employed on the date of ratification, shall have their retro-active pay increase pro-rated from their date of hire to the date of ratification.
- c. Employees who retired between July 1, 2022 and the date of ratification, shall have their retro-active pay increase pro-rated from July 1, 2022 to date of retirement.

4. COLA Adjustment

The provincial parties agree that in determining the level of any Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs) that will be paid out starting on the first pay period after July 1, 2023 and July 1, 2024, respectively, the "annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months" in paragraph 2 of the Provincial Framework Agreement means the *Latest 12-month Average (Index) % Change* reported by BC Stats in March for British Columbia for the twelve months starting at the beginning of March the preceding year and concluding at the end of the following February. The percentage change reported by BC Stats that will form the basis for determining any COLA increase is calculated to one decimal point. The *Latest 12-month Average Index*, as defined by BC Stats, is a 12-month moving average of the BC consumer price indexes of the most recent 12 months. This figure is calculated by averaging index levels over the applicable 12 months.

The Latest 12-month Average % Change is reported publicly by BC Stats in the monthly BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report. The BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report released in mid-March will contain the applicable figure for the 12-months concluding at the end of February.

For reference purposes only, the annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months from March 1, 2021 to February 28, 2022 was 3.4%.

5. Public Sector Wage Increases

- 1. If a public sector employer, as defined in s. 1 of the Public Sector Employers Act, enters into a collective agreement with an effective date after December 31, 2021 and the first three years of the collective agreement under the Shared Recovery Mandate includes cumulative nominal (not compounded) general wage increases (GWIs) and Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs) that, in accordance with how GWIs are defined and calculated in this LOA, are paid out and exceed the sum of the GWIs and COLAs that are paid out in the K-12 Provincial Framework Agreement, the total GWIs and COLAs paid out will be adjusted on the third anniversary of the collective agreement so that the cumulative nominal (not compounded) GWIs and COLAs are equivalent. This paragraph 5 is not triggered by any wage increase or lump sum awarded as a result of binding interest arbitration.
- 2. For the purposes of calculating the general wage increases in paragraph 1:
 - a) a \$0.25 per hour flat-rate wage increase for employees with their hourly wage rates set out in the collective agreement; or
 - b) any alternative flat-rate wage increase for employees whose hourly wage rates are not set out in the collective agreement that is determined by the Public Sector Employers' Council Secretariat to be roughly equivalent to a \$0.25 per hour flatrate wage increase;

shall be considered to be a 0.5% general wage increase, notwithstanding what it actually represents for the average bargaining unit member covered by the collective agreement. For clarity, under paragraph 2 a), the combined GWIs of \$0.25 per hour and 3.24% in Year 1 are considered to be a single increase of 3.74% for this LOA. For example purposes only, combining the 3.74% increase (as it is considered in this LOA) in Year 1 with the maximum potential combined GWI and COLA increases of 6.75% in Year 2 and 3% in Year 3 would result in a cumulative nominal increases of 13.49% over three years.

- 3. For certainty, a general wage increase is one that applies to all members of a bargaining unit (e.g. everyone receives an additional \$0.25 per hour, \$400 per year, or 1% increase) and does not include wage comparability adjustments, lower wage redress adjustments, labour market adjustments, flexibility allocations, classification system changes, or any compensation increases that are funded by equivalent collective agreement savings or grievance resolutions that are agreed to in bargaining.
- 4. A general wage increase and its magnitude in any agreement is as confirmed by the Public Sector Employers' Council Secretariat.
- 5. This paragraph 5 will be effective during the term of the K-12 Provincial Framework Agreement.

6. Local Table Bargaining Money

Provide ongoing funding to the support staff local tables in the amount of:

Year	Amount	District Minimum
2022/2023	\$11,500,000	\$40,000
2023/2024	\$13,800,000	\$50,000
2024/2025	\$17,800,000	\$60,000

This money will be prorated according to student FTE providing that each district receives the district minimum amount.

The district and local must reach agreement on its use and implementation as part of their local discussions. The money may not be used for a general wage increase.

7. Provincial Labour Management Committee

The parties agree to maintain a Provincial Labour Management Committee (PLMC) to discuss and problem solve issues of mutual provincial interest, including issues referred from provincial committees established under this Framework Agreement. The purpose of the committee is to promote the cooperative resolution of workplace issues, to respond and adapt to changes in the economy, to foster the development of work-related skills and to promote workplace productivity.

The PLMC shall not discuss local grievances or have the power to bind local parties to any decision or conclusion. This committee will not replace the existing local grievance/arbitration processes.

The parties agree that the PLMC will consist of up to four (4) representatives appointed by BCPSEA and up to four (4) representatives appointed by the Support Staff Unions. Either provincial party may bring resource people as required, with advanced notice to the other party and at no added cost to the committee.

The PLMC will meet quarterly or as mutually agreed to for the life of the 2022 Framework Agreement and agree to include Workplace Health and Safety as a standing agenda item.

8. Support Staff Education Committee (SSEC)

Structure:

The committee shall comprise of not more than five (5) members appointed by CUPE and five (5) members appointed by BCPSEA. One of the CUPE appointees will be from the Non-CUPE Unions.

Either Party may bring resource people as required, with advanced notice to the other party. These resource people will be non-voting and at no added cost to the committee.

Mandate:

The mandate of the committee is to manage the distribution of education funds for the following:

- a) Implementation of best practices to integrate skill development for support staff employees with district goals and student needs;
- b) Developing and delivering education opportunities to enhance service delivery to students;
- c) Identifying, developing and delivering education opportunities to enhance and support employee health and safety, including non-violent crisis intervention;
- d) Enable the provision of education opportunities to enhance and support the understanding, recognition and reconciliation process with Indigenous Peoples;
- e) Enable the provision of education opportunities to enhance and support equity, diversity, and inclusion as well as cultural safety;

- f) Skills enhancement for support staff;
- g) EA curriculum module development and delivery;
- h) These funds shall not be used to pay for education that Districts are required to provide under Occupational Health and Safety Regulations.

Terms of Reference:

The SSEC shall update, not later than January 31, 2023, the terms of reference for the committee. If no such agreement can be reached the SSEC shall make recommendations to the Provincial Labour Management Committee (PLMC).

Funding:

Commencing July 1, 2022, there will be \$50,000 of annual funding allocated for the purposes set out above. Commencing July 1, 2024, there will be an additional \$1,000,000 of annual funding allocated for the purposes set out above.

9. Safety in the Workplace

The parties agree that prevention of violence in the workplace is of paramount importance. The parties commit to providing a healthy and safe working environment that includes procedures to minimize the risk of workplace violence, such as Individual Safe Work Instructions or equivalent and the obligation to report and investigate incidents of workplace violence.

10. Provincial Joint Health and Safety Taskforce

The provincial parties will establish a Provincial Joint Health and Safety Taskforce of not more than four (4) members appointed by CUPE and four (4) members appointed by BCPSEA. Each provincial party will consider the appointment of subject matter experts in occupational health and safety. Either provincial party may bring resource people as required, with advance notice to the other party. These resource people will be non-voting and at no cost to the taskforce. Costs associated with this Taskforce will be provided from existing SSEAC funds.

The Provincial Joint Health and Safety Taskforce will:

- a) develop Terms of Reference to support training on the 2021 Workplace Violence Prevention Toolkit and the joint health and Safety Evaluation Tool;
- b) support the Support Staff Education Committee (SSEC) in the development of training related to the 2021 Workplace Violence Prevention Toolkit;

- c) provide a joint communication on the availability of training related to the 2021 Workplace Violence Prevention Toolkit for all Occupational Health and Safety Committees;
- d) review and update as required the Joint Health and Safety Evaluation Tool resulting from the 2019-2022 Provincial Framework Agreement;
- e) provide the reviewed Joint Health and Safety Evaluation Tool to each school district and local union;
- f) Identify and share best practices for the development of Individual Safe Work Instructions or equivalent.

11. Job Evaluation

The work of the provincial job evaluation steering committee (the JE Committee) will continue during the term of this Framework Agreement. The objectives of the JE Committee are as follows:

- Review the results of the phase one and phase two pilots and outcomes of the committee work. Address any anomalies identified with the JE tool, process, or benchmarks.
- Rate the provincial benchmarks and create a job hierarchy for the provincial benchmarks.
- Gather data from all school districts and match existing job descriptions to the provincial benchmarks.
- Identify the job hierarchy for local job descriptions for all school districts.
- Compare the local job hierarchy to the benchmark-matched hierarchy.
- Develop a methodology to convert points to pay bands The confirmed method must be supported by current compensation best practices.
- Identify training requirements to support implementation of the JE plan and develop training resources as required.

Once the objectives outlined above are completed, the JE Committee will mutually determine whether a local, regional or provincial approach to the steps outlined above is appropriate.

It is recognized that the work of the committee is technical, complicated, lengthy and onerous. To accomplish the objectives, the parties agree that existing JE funds can be accessed by the JE committee to engage consultant(s) to complete this work.

It is further recognized that this process does not impact the established management right of employers to determine local job requirements and job descriptions nor does this process alter any existing collective agreement rights or established practices. When the JE plan is ready to be implemented, and if an amendment to an existing collective agreement is required, the JE Committee will work with the local School District and Local Union to make recommendations for implementation. Any recommendations will also be provided to the Provincial Labour Management Committee (PLMC).

As mutually agreed by the provincial parties and the JE Committee, the disbursement of available JE funds shall be retroactive to January 2, 2020-

The committee will utilize available funds to provide 50% of the wage differential for the position falling the furthest below the wage rate established by the provincial JE process and will continue this process until all JE fund monies at the time have been disbursed. The committee will follow compensation best practices to avoid problems such as inversion.

The committee will report out to the provincial parties regularly during the term of the Framework Agreement. Should any concerns arise during the work of the committee they will be referred to the PLMC.

Create a maintenance program to support ongoing implementation of the JE plan at a local, regional or provincial level. The maintenance program will include a process for addressing the wage rates of incumbents in positions which are impacted by implementation of the JE plan.

The provincial parties confirm that \$4,419,859 of ongoing annual funds will be used to implement the Job Evaluation Plan.

Effective July 1, 2022, there will be a one-time pause of the annual \$4,419,859 JE funding. This amount has been allocated to the local table bargaining money. The annual funding will recommence July 1, 2023.

12. Committee Funding

There will be a total of \$150,000 of annual funding allocated for the purposes of the Support Staff Education Committee, the Provincial Labour Management Committee and the Provincial Joint Health and Safety Committee.

13. Public Education Benefits Trust

 PEBT Annual Funding Date: The established ongoing annual funding payment of \$19,428,240 provided by the Ministry of Education will continue to be made each April 1. This payment shall be made each April 1 of the calendar year to provide LTD and JEIS benefits in accordance with the Settlors Statement on Accepted and Policy Practices of the PEBT.

- b. The Parties agree that decisions of the Public Education Benefits Trust medical appeal panel are final and binding. The Parties further agree that administrative review processes and the medical appeal panel will not be subject to the grievance procedure in each collective agreement.
- c. Sick leave and JEIS eligibility for sick leave or indemnity payments requires participation in the Joint Early Intervention Service (JEIS) according to the JEIS policies of the PEBT.

14. Benefits

a. Effective July 1, 2023, provide \$3 million dollars as ongoing annual funding to explore enhancements to the Standardized Extended Health Plan, including dental coverage, counselling and other improvements to benefits.

A one-time joint committee of up to four representatives appointed by BCPSEA and up to four representatives appointed by support staff unions will determine the enhancements to be implemented.

Any residual from the benefits standardization will be allocated to the Job Evaluation Fund.

b. Effective July 1, 2023, provide \$1,000,000 one-time money to the PEBT to be utilized for addiction treatment support programs. The PEBT will determine appropriate terms of use for accessing the funds which will include, but not be limited to: priority access for support staff employees (vs. School Districts), treatment cost considerations, and relapse response.

15. Production of Local Collective Agreements

BCPSEA commits to providing a draft 2022 local collective agreement which includes all negotiated updates, within 30 days of ratification by the local parties. The draft collective agreement will be provided in editable format with changes tracked for the local parties to review.

16. Demographic, Classification and Wage Information

BCPSEA agrees to coordinate the accumulation and distribution of demographic, classification and wage data, as specified in the Letter of Understanding dated December 14, 2011, to CUPE on behalf of Boards of Education. The data currently housed in the Employment Data and Analysis Systems (EDAS) will be the source of the requested information.

17. Unpaid Work

In accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*, no employee shall be required or permitted to perform unpaid hours of work.

18. Education Assistant Credential Standardization

Should the Ministry of Education initiate discussions regarding standardized credentials for Education Assistants, the provincial parties will each send a letter to request participation in the process.

19. Provincial Framework Bargaining 2025

The Parties agree to amend and renew the December 14, 2011 Letter of Understanding for dedicated funding to the K-12 Presidents Council to facilitate the next round of provincial bargaining. \$250,000 will be allocated as of July 1, 2023.

20. Provincial Dispute resolution

The provincial parties may mutually agree to refer a dispute under Provincial Framework Agreement to final and binding arbitration.

21. Funding

Funding for the Provincial Framework Agreement will be included in operating grants to Boards of Education.

22. Employee Support Grant

The Parties agree to the principle that Support Staff union members who have lost wages as a result of not crossing lawful picket lines during full days of a BCTF strike/BCPSEA lockout will be compensated in accordance with the letter of agreement in Appendix A.

23. Adoption of the Provincial Framework Agreement

The rights and obligations of the local parties under this Provincial Framework Agreement are of no force or effect unless the collective agreement has been ratified by both parties no later than January 25, 2023, or a later date as established by the provincial parties if the local parties are engaged in mediation.

Dated this 15th day of September, 2022.

The undersigned bargaining representatives agree to recommend this letter of understanding to their respective principals.

K-12 Presidents' Council and	BC Public School Employers'
Support Staff Unions	Association
"Paul Simpson"	"Leanne Bowes"

I ddi olimpooli	
"Justin Schmid"	"Bruce Anderson"
"Kirsten Daub"	"Alan Chell"
"Jeff Virtanen"	"Kyle Uno"
"Gray Boisvert"	<pre>"Tammy Sowinsky"</pre>
"Tammy Carter"	"Rae Yu"
"Michelle Bennett"	"Richard Per"
"Patti Pocha"	"Ken Dawson"
"Denise Bullock"	"Nancy Brennan"
"David Bollen"	"Eric Harvey"
"Monica Brady"	"Alex Dounce"
"Warren Williams"	
"Tim DeVivo"	
"Jane Massy"	
"Amber Leonard"	_
"Jason Franklin"	
"Christina Forsyth"	
"Tammy Murphy"	
"Jeannette Beauvillier"	
"Daun Frederickson"	
"Tracey O'Hara"	
"Katarina DiSimo"	

Provincial Framework Agreement – Appendix A

Letter of Agreement ("Letter")

Between:

BC Public School Employers Association ("BCPSEA")

And:

The CUPE K - 12 Presidents' Council and Support Staff Unions ("the Unions")

Re: Employee Support Grant (ESG) after June 30, 2022

This Employee Support Grant (ESG) establishes a process under which employees covered by 2022 – 2025 collective agreements between Boards of Education and the Unions shall be entitled to recover wages lost as a result of legal strike activity by the BC Teachers' Federation ("BCTF") or lockout by BCPSEA after June 30, 2022.

- 1. The ESG will be available provided that:
 - a. A board and local union have a collective agreement which has been ratified by both parties no later than January 25, 2023 and,
 - b. There has been no successful strike vote by the BCTF or local support staff union prior to local union ratification.
- 2. Employees are expected to attend their worksite if there is no lawful BCTF picket line.
- 3. Employees who have lost wages as a result of not crossing lawful picket lines during full days of a BCTF strike/BCPSEA lockout shall be compensated. This compensation shall be in accordance with the following:
 - a. In the event that employees are prevented from attending work due to a lawful picket line, employees will be paid for all scheduled hours that the employee would have otherwise worked but for the labour dispute. Their pay will be 75% of their base wage rate.
 - b. The residual 25% of the employees' base wage rate will be placed in a district fund to provide professional development to support staff employees. Funds will be dispersed by the district following agreement between the district and the local

union.

- 4. Within forty-five (45) days of the conclusion of the labour dispute between BCPSEA and the BCTF, boards will reimburse each employee for all scheduled hours for which the employee has not otherwise been paid as a result of strike or lockout.
- 5. If the employee disputes a payment received from the board, the union may submit the dispute with particulars on the employee's behalf to a committee comprised of an equal number of representatives appointed by BCPSEA and the Unions.
- 6. If the joint committee is unable to resolve the employee's claim it will submit the dispute to a mutually agreed upon arbitrator who must resolve the dispute within ten (10) days of hearing the differences between the board and the union.

Original signed on 15th September, 2022 by:

BCPSEA Leanne Bowes K-12 Presidents' Council Paul Simpson

APPENDIX "D"

Plan Overview (The Standardized Provincial Extended Health Benefits Plan)

https://www.pebtbenefits.ca/en/SelectDistrict_PEBT.asp (and select SD87 from dropdown box)

EXTENDED HEALTH	Current Provincial Standardized Extended Health Plan	Effective July 1, 2023
Reimbursement	80% until \$1,000 paid per family per calendar year, then 100%	80% until \$1,000 paid per family per calendar year, then 100
Annual Deductible	\$100 (Single/Family)	\$100 (Single/Family)
ifetime Maximum	Unlimited	Unlimited
ermination Age	Retirement (No age limit)	Retirement (No age limit)
rescription Drugs		
Drug Formulary	Blue Rx	Blue Rx
ay-Direct Drug Card	Yes	Yes
er Prescription Deductible	\$0	\$0
exual Dysfunction	Not Covered	Not Covered
Oral Contraceptives	Covered	Covered
ertility	\$7,500 per lifetime	§7,500 per lifetime
moking Cessation ¹	Not Covered	Not Covered
Medical Services and Supplies		
Medi-Assist	Included	Included
Out-of-province Emergency Medical	Covered (100% reimbursement)	Covered (100% reimbursement)
mbulance	Covered	Covered
iospital	Private or Semi-private	Private or Semi-private
n-home Nursing Care	Covered	Covered
learing aids	\$1,000 per 5 years for Adults and per 2 years for Children	\$4,000 per 5 years for Adults and per 2 years for Children
Miscellaneous Services and Supplies		
subject to reasonable and customary limits	Covered	Covered
is defined by the insurer)		
Orthopedic shoes	\$400 per year for Adults, \$200 per year for Children	\$400 per year for Adults, \$200 per year for Children
Orthotics	\$400 per 2 years (adults and children)	\$400 per 2 years (adults and children)
ision and Paramedical		
fision Care		
Appimum	\$550 per 24 months	\$625 per 24 months
ye exams	\$75 per 24 months	\$125 per 24 months
rescription Sunglasses	Included in Vision Maximum	Included in Vision Maximum
aramedical services		
laturopath	\$500 per year	\$600 per year
hiropractor	\$600 per year	\$600 per year \$600 per year
Assage therapist	\$1,200 per year	\$1,200 per year
hysiotherapist	\$900 per year	\$1,000 per year \$1,500 per year
	1050	
sychologist	\$850 per year	(addition of Clinical Counsellors & Social Workers under a
and the second se	100	combined maximum with Psychologists)
peech therapist	\$500 per year	\$600 per year
cupuncturist	\$500 per year	\$600 per year
odiatrist/Chiropodist	\$500 per year	\$600 per year

Eligibility of individuals and premium sharing arrangements are unaffected.

Benefits are subject to reasonable and customary limits as defined by the insurer.

- Blue RX is a dynamic drug program provided by PBC that is continuously refined with features that include, but are not limited to: managed care formulary, special authorization enforcement, low cost alternative price controls, and reasonable and customary mark-up and dispensing fee limits, for example.

Smoking Cessation covered under MSP

Unionized Support Staff Minimum Dental Plan Summary

PLAN	Effective July 1, 2023		
Basic Services	Plan pays: 85%		
Major Services	Plan pays: 60%		
Orthodontic Services	Plan pays: 60% Lifetime Maximum: \$1,000		
Notes			
 If your current dental plan provides a lower coverage level, the increase will be effective July 1, 2023 If your current dental plan provides a higher coverage level, there will be no change to coverage. 			

Between

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE)

and

CUPE LOCAL 2052-02

RE: Denetia Secretary Hours

The Parties agree that:

- 1. Denetia School Secretary hours can be less than four (4) hours per day as is presently required by Article 18.10 Four (4) Hour Daily Minimum on a without prejudice basis.
- 2. This LOU will be reviewed on a yearly basis and will be rescinded if the hours allotted to Denetia increase and can accommodate making the Secretary position four (4) hours per day.

DAY OF March SIGNED THIS 2020.

For the Employer SCHOOL DISTRICT #87 (STIKINE)

Mike Gordon, Superintendent

Yvonne Tashoots, Board Chair

For the Union:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 3234

Ryan Rasmussen, President, Local 3234

Between

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE)

and

CUPE LOCAL 2052-02

Re: Leave of Absence

The Parties agree that:

- a) When a member applies for a leave of absence from the district for a school year under Article 23.07 General Leave they must submit their request to the Secretary Treasurer not later than April 30th of the school year prior to the commencement of the leave.
- It shall be the responsibility of the member to advise the Secretary Treasurer in writing of b) their intention to return to the position previously held no later than April 30th in the year their leave expires.
- A member who fails to notify the Secretary Treasurer in writing of their intention to return C) to the position previously held, by the specified date in (b) above, shall be deemed to have resigned from School District #87 (Stikine).

DAY OF March SIGNED THIS 7 2020.

For the Employer: SCHOOL DISTRICT #87 (STIKINE)

Mike Gordon, Superintendent

For the Union: CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC **EMPLOYEES LOCAL 3234**

Ryan Rasmussen, President, Local 3234

vonne Tashoots, Board Chair

Between BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE) and

CUPE LOCAL 2052-02

Re: Service Improvement Allocation Fund

WHEREAS:

The Ministry has established and maintains additional funding for the purpose of improving the delivery of service. Funding to address this matter as it relates to employees covered by this Collective Agreement in the amount of \$10,000.00 or any annual amount established by government in the Service Agreement Fund effective July 1, 2022.

THEREFORE:

The Parties hereby agree the allocation of the Service Agreement Fund will be as follows:

- 1. An Education Fund whose purpose is to assist in the upgrading job-related skills and education of the employee.
- 2. A Professional Development Fund with the purpose to encourage employees to participate in school, district or out of district professional development sessions (self-directed professional development is excluded). Employees attending professional development days will be paid for the full hours of the programming at their regular rate of pay and all cost associated with travel for out of town opportunities.

SIGNED THIS	_ DAY OF	2023.
For the Employer:		For the Union:
SCHOOL DISTRICT #87 (STIKINE)		CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 2052-02
		"Monica Brady"
"Alanna Cameron"		
Alanna Cameron, Secretary Treasurer		Monica Brady, President Local 2052
"Tina Etzerza"		"Lisa Medynski"
Tina Etzerza, Executive Adm Assistant	nin.	Lisa Medynski, Vice President, Local 2052

Between BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE) and

CUPE LOCAL 2052-02

Re: Tahltan School Secretary Hours

The Parties agree that:

- 1. The Tahltan School Secretary hours can be less than four (4) hours per day as is presently required by Article 18.10, four (4) hour daily minimum on a without prejudice basis.
- 2. This LOU will be reviewed on a yearly basis and will be rescinded if the District can accommodate making the Secretary position four (4) hours per day either on its own or in combination with another position.

Dated this 12 day of NOV . 20 20.

For the Employer.

Secretary-Treasurer

Superintende

For the Union:

Pres

Secretary-Treasurer 2052-02

Between BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE) and

CUPE LOCAL 2052-02

Re: Atlin School Secretary Hours

The Parties agree that:

- 1. The Atlin School Secretary hours can be less than four (4) hours per day as is presently required by Article 18.10, four (4) hour daily minimum on a without prejudice basis.
- 2. Due to the Ministry of Education requiring the District to reduce its administration costs for 2020/2021 and beyond, commencing August 2020, the Secretary will work 10 (10) hours per week made up of two (2) hours per day five (5) days per week.
- 3. This LOU will be reviewed on a yearly basis and will be rescinded if the Ministry of Education reinstates the funding for the reduction in the administration costs and the District can accommodate making the Secretary position four (4) hours per day.

Dated this 12 day of Nov. 20 20

For the Employer.

Secretary-Treasurer

Superi

For the Union:

President Loca 2 - 02

Secretary-Treasurer 20 2 - 02

Between BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE) and

CUPE LOCAL 2052-02

Re: Denetia School Custodian Hours

The Parties agree that:

- 1. The Denetia School Custodial hours can be less than four (4) hours per day as is presently required by Article 18.10, four (4) hour daily minimum on a without prejudice basis.
- 2. This LOU will be reviewed on a yearly basis and will be rescinded if the District can accommodate making the Custodian position four (4) hours per day.

Dated this 12 day of NOV. , 20 2D.

For the Employer.

Secretary-Treasurer

Superinte

For the Union:

President Local 208 02

Bargaining Chairperson

Between

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 87 (STIKINE)

and

CUPE LOCAL 2052-02

Re: District Accounting Clerk/Executive Assistant

The District presently has a 0.5 FTE Accounting Clerk (CUPE) and a 0.5 FTE Executive Assistant (Excluded) position both being done by one person.

The parties agree that:

- 1. Due to the size of the District and due to the confidential information that the Executive Assistant will be dealing with, the two positions will combined into one position; Executive Assistant (Excluded).
- 2. This position will revert back to the two (2) former positions of the 0.5 FTE Accounting Clerk within the CUPE Bargaining Unit and the 0.5 FTE Executive Assistant upon the present employee permanently leaving the position for any reason.
- 3. In the event of an on-going vacancy in the combined position, the Parties agree to consult on the process for replacement.
- 4. This Agreement is without prejudice and precedent to any other matter

day of NOV Dated this 12 20 21 For the Union: For the Employer: Presk Secretary-Treasurer Secrétary-Treasurer 2052-02